
 

If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format or language, please call Ricky Clarke, Democratic Services 
Officer on 01432 261885 or e-mail rclarke@herefordshire.gov.uk in 
advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
Planning Committee 
(Extraordinary Meeting) 
 

 

Date: Wednesday 7 November 2012 

Time: 2.00 pm (Please note the start time for this meeting) 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Ricky Clarke, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01432 261885 
Email: rclarke@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 

 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Planning 
Committee 
Membership  
  
Chairman Councillor PGH Cutter 
Vice-Chairman Councillor BA Durkin 
  

Councillor PA Andrews  
Councillor AN Bridges  
Councillor PJ Edwards  
Councillor DW Greenow  
Councillor KS Guthrie  
Councillor J Hardwick  
Councillor JW Hope MBE  
Councillor MAF Hubbard  
Councillor RC Hunt  
Councillor Brig P Jones CBE  
Councillor JG Lester  
Councillor G Lucas  
Councillor RI Matthews  
Councillor FM Norman  
Councillor AJW Powers  
Councillor GR Swinford  
Councillor PJ Watts  

 
  

 
 

 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  7 NOVEMBER 2012 

 

 

AGENDA 
 Pages 
  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)     
   
 To receive details any details of Members nominated to attend the meeting 

in place of a Member of the Committee. 
 

   
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 

   
4. S121299/O - LAND ADJOINING LANDIMORE, 12 POPLAR ROAD, 

CLEHONGER, HEREFORD, HR2 9SW   
1 - 10  

   
 Proposed residential redevelopment for five houses.  
   
5. S121401/F - SALOU, BELLE BANK AVENUE, HEREFORD, HR4 9RL   11 - 16  
   
 Proposed construction of detached dormer bungalow.  
   
6. DATE OF NEXT MEETING     
   
 Date of next site inspection: 27 November 2012 

 
Date of next meeting:  28 November 2012 

 

   





The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business 

to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a report is 
given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer 
has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with 
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject 
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a 
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents. 

 
 
 

Public Transport Links 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs approximately 

every 20 minutes from the City bus station at the Tesco store in Bewell Street (next to the 
roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Vineyard Road near to its junction with 
Old Eign Hill.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 

 
 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point A which is located in the 
circular car park at the front of the building.  A check will be 
undertaken to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated 
the building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of the 
exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning to 
collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer 
waste. De-inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). 
Awarded the Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel 
environmental label 

 



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

MEETING: PLANNING COMMITTEE 

DATE: 7 NOVEMBER 2012 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

S121299/O - PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL REDEVELOPMENT 
FOR FIVE HOUSES AT LAND ADJOINING LANDIMORE, 12 
POPLAR ROAD, CLEHONGER, HEREFORD, HR2 9SW 
 
For: Mr C Gardiner & Mrs J Price, per Mr John Phipps, Bank 
Lodge, Coldwells Road, Holmer, Hereford, Herefordshire 
HR1 1LH 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/planning/58286.aspx?ID=121299&NoSearch=Tr
ue 
 

 
Date Received: 1 May 2012 Ward: Valletts Grid Ref: 344617,237328 
Expiry Date: 18 July 2012  
Local Members: Councillors JF Knipe and DC Taylor (neighbouring ward) 
 
1. Site Description and Proposal 
 
1.1 The application site comprises a parcel of land that lies outside of, and to the south of the 

main settlement of Clehonger, but within the parish of Allensmore. The site is currently 
accessed from Poplar Road (U73412) via a private drive that serves the dwelling known as 
Landimore. The site itself consists of a range of disused agricultural buildings that served a 
former poultry / pig farm. 

 
1.2 The application seeks outline consent with access being the only matter for consideration. All 

other matters, namely appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are reserved. The proposal 
is for the demolition of these buildings and erection of five dwellings. An indicative plan has 
been submitted that details access to the site and that shows five detached dwellings, with 
parking and gardens. Four of these would be to the south of the site in a linear form, with one 
being sited to the north. The access would also serve Landimore (12 Poplar Road) and this 
would have a separate parking and turning area.  

  
2. Policies  
 
2.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
 

The following sections are of particular relevance:  
 

- Introduction - Achieving sustainable development  
- Section 6 - Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes  
- Section 7 - Requiring Good Design  
- Section 8 - Promoting healthy communities  
- Section 11 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 
2.2 Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan: 

AGENDA ITEM 4

1



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

 
 S1 - Sustainable Development 
 S3 - Development Requirements 
 DR1 - Design 
 DR2 - Land Use and Activity 
 DR3 - Movement 
 DR5 - Planning Obligations 
 H7 - Housing in the Countryside Outside Settlements 
 H13 - Sustainable Residential Design 
 H14 - Re-using Previously Developed Land and Buildings 
 NC1 - Biodiversity and Development 
 NC6 - Biodiversity Action Plan – Priority Habitats and Species 
 NC7 - Compensation for Loss of Biodiversity 
 NC8 - Habitat Creation, Restoration and Enhancement 
 LA2 - Landscape Character 
 LA3 - Setting of Settlements 
 LA6 - Landscaping Schemes 
 
2.3 Supplementary Planning Documents: 
 

- Planning Obligations  
- Design  
- Biodiversity and Development  

 
2.4 Other Guidance  
 

- Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment  
- Annual Monitoring Report  

 
2.5 The Unitary Development Plan policies together with any relevant supplementary planning 

documentation can be viewed on the Councils website by using the following link:- 
 
 http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/planning/29815.aspp 
 
3. Planning History 
 
3.1 SH900064PO  - Residential Development - Refused 21 March 1990 
 
4. Consultation Summary 
 
 Statutory Consultees 
 
4.1 Welsh Water: Recommends conditions. 
 
 Internal Consultation Responses 
 
4.2 Conservation Manager – Ecology:  
 

There was evidence of pipistrelle bats foraging at the site, but no evidence of roosting. No 
evidence of reptiles was found during the surveys, although there are potential refugia 
present. 

 
If this outline application is to be approved, there may still be some delay before the site is 
developed and I recommend the inclusion of the following conditions: 

 

2



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

The recommendations set out in the ecologist’s reports dated July and August 2012 should be 
followed in relation to the identified protected species [bats, great crested newts etc], unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. Prior to commencement of the 
development, a full working method statement based on up-to-date survey information should 
be submitted to and be approved in writing by the local planning authority, and the work shall 
be implemented as approved. 

 
Prior to commencement of the development, a full habitat enhancement scheme should be 
submitted to and be approved in writing by the local planning authority, and the work shall be 
implemented as approved. This shall include provision for bats, nesting birds and planting of 
native species. 

 
An appropriately qualified and experienced ecological clerk of works should be appointed (or 
consultant engaged in that capacity) to oversee the ecological mitigation work. 

 
Reasons: 

 
To ensure that all species are protected having regard to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 and Policies 
NC1, NC6 and NC7 of the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan. 

 
To comply with Policies NC8 and NC9 of Herefordshire’s Unitary Development Plan in relation 
to Nature Conservation and Biodiversity and to meet the requirements of the NPPF and the 
NERC Act 2006 

 
The following standard informative should also be included:  N11C – General  

 
4.3 Traffic Manager recommends conditions and seeks clarification on detailed design. 

Updated comments will be provided as a committee update.   
 
4.4 Public Rights of Way Manager:  Raises no objection 
 
5. Representations 
 
5.1 Allensmore Parish Council have made the following comments:  
 

Loss of amenity to road frontage houses. This is viewed an overdevelopment for the size of 
the site adding to existing sewerage problems. The Parish Council cannot support this 
application.  

 
Response to amended plans / additional information can be summarised as follows; 

 
Moving Plot 1 away from the boundary has helped to reduce the impact on the existing 
dwellings. Welsh Water seems happy, although a ‘Plant Upgrade’ was due in 2009. 
Suggestion that 20 houses could be put on this site so that 5 looks acceptable,  does not 
change original opinion.  
 

5.2 Clehonger Parish Council make the following comments:  
 

Concerns about this proposal:-  
 
1. The position of the houses overlooks some Poplar Road properties. A better position could 

be considered.  
2. Concerns for the drainage as the sewerage system would be overloaded.  
3. Highways – access must be adequate – on an already busy road. Safety for pedestrians is 

paramount. We would recommend a detailed survey 

3



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

4. Concerns over existing outbuildings and the construction materials.  

Response to amended plans / additional information can be summarised as follows:  
 
- The site is a bat habitat 

- The proposed dwellings will impact detrimentally on the neighbours 

- No need for larger houses, others in village not sold 

- Impact upon services , not part of a village plan 

- Applied for a TPO to the oak tree at the entrance.  

5.3 Letters of objection have been received from:  
 

- Mr and Mrs J H Merrick, 2 Poplar Road 

- Mr and Mrs Hammon, Silvertrees, 4 Poplar Road 

- Katie and Andy Robertson, (owners) 8 Poplar Road 

- Tony Fenn, 8 Poplar Road  

- Derek Hancock, 11 Poplar Road 

- Keith West, Homestead, Poplar Road 

- Roger and Alison Judd, Lawnsdown House, Poplar Road 

- M and L Thomas, Rosedale, Clehonger 

These letters raise the following issues:  
 

- Increase in traffic on Poplar Road where no pavement or lighting.  
- Lack of visibility as hampered by trees on the site 
- Visibility not achievable 
- Poplar Road used as a rat run and speed limit ignored.  
- Highway has several pinch points where it is impossible for two cars to pass 
- Impact upon amenities of local residents by way of noise pollution / light pollution  
- Loss of privacy / amenity 
- The detached dwelling closest to 8 Poplar Road / The Homestead, would because of size, 

depth, width, height and massing have an unacceptably adverse impact upon the 
amenities of the properties by reason of overlooking, loss of privacy, and being visually 
overbearing.  

- Consider re-siting the dwellings so none are close to the boundary with other dwellings.  
- Height of dwellings should be no taller than the existing dwellings near the site 
- Concern’s about drainage ditch and what would happen to this? 
- Concerns about capacity of sewerage system in the area 
- Potential bat roost within the site 
- Concern about asbestos on the site and methods of disposal 
- Application previously refused for three dwellings 
- Impact upon trees to corner  of dwelling 

5.4 Letters of Support have been received from: 
 

- Norah and Brian Jones, 37 Poplar Road 

- Mark Jones, Poplar Road, Clehonger 

- Mr S Watkins, Mrs W Watkins, Walnut Tree Farm, Birch Hill Road 

4



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

These letters can be summarised as follows:  
  

- Currently writing village plan, and their have been requests for new houses, but not be 
seeking new large estates, rather small developments of 4 – 6 houses around village 
envelope to ensure good social and community integration.  

- Good village facilities and schools in walking distance. More people / dwellings to support 
these.  

- Lack of family sized dwellings in the area. Would be the answer to much needed family 
homes. 

- Houses would balance out the high proportion of bungalows in this area.  
- Better houses than old piggeries and chicken sheds.  
- It is known that new houses are needed and the area has building on it already on what is 

considered to be brown field.  
 

5.5 The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following 
link:- 

 www.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/planning/searchplanningapplications.aspx 
 

Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:- 
 www.herefordshire.gov.uk/community_and_living/consumer_advice/41840.asp 
 
6. Officer’s Appraisal 
 
6.1  The application falls to be considered having regard to these key issues:  
 

1. Principle of development 
2. Highway safety 
3. Impact upon the character of the locality and  amenities of local residents 
4. Trees and landscaping  
5. Biodiversity 
6. Drainage 
7. Demolition of buildings 
8. Section 106 agreement 

 
Principle of development 

 
6.2 The application site is adjacent to the settlement boundary and thus Saved Policy H7 of the 

Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan (UDP) is relevant.  This policy provides a clear 
presumption against development in open countryside, unless the proposal would meet an 
essential economic requirement, which does not happen to be the case here.  As such the 
prospective application would be contrary to this policy.   Saved Policy H10 does allow for 
affordable housing adjoining the settlement boundary within a main village but as this 
application concerns an open market scheme, the policy is not applicable. 

 
6.3 There are no other relevant UDP policies concerning the use of the site and the emerging 

Local Plan (Core Strategy) has not yet reached the stage where it can be considered as a 
material planning consideration. 

 
6.4 The degree to which the UDP is up-to-date and relevant needs to be considered.  As part of 

the evidence base for the emerging Core Strategy a Strategic Housing Land Review (SHLAA) 
has been undertaken, updated in March 2012 and published on the Council’s website.  The 
SHLAA is an assessment of the potential availability of land for housing across Herefordshire 
up to the end of the plan period and in that study, the application site is identified under 
reference number Cle/2.  Here, the site is considered to be suitable for housing with low or 
minor constraints. 

5



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

 
6.5 With regard to decision taking, coupled with the latest Annual Monitoring Report, published in 

June 2012, the SHLAA also alludes to the fact that Herefordshire Council does not have a 5 
year supply of deliverable housing sites.  This means that the Council’s policies on the supply 
of housing are in conflict with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which is a 
material consideration in the determination of applications - para 49 of the NPPF is clear that 
housing supply policies will be usurped by the framework where they are in conflict with 
national policy. 

 
6.6 Where the relevant UDP housing supply policies are out-of-date permission should be granted 

in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, unless any adverse 
impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, or if specific policies in the framework 
indicate that development should be restricted. 

 
6.7 In this instance should the proposal be considered to represent a sustainable form of 

development, the NPPF requirements should be given significant weight in making a decision. 
 
6.8 The application site lies immediately adjacent to the settlement boundary of a main village, 

one that has facilities such as shops, pubs and school (primary) and community facilities all 
within easy walking distance. The village is served by bus services and there are employment 
uses in the vicinity. As such, it would be difficult to argue that this site is in an unsustainable 
location. As such,  whilst the application would be contrary to Saved Policy H7 of the UDP, the 
absence of a 5-year supply of housing land means there are no sustainable grounds to 
recommend an application for refusal on a housing land supply policy issue. 

 
6.9 In addition to this, the site, as a former poultry / pig farm can be considered as previously 

developed. Paragraph17 of the National Planning Policy Framework and policy H14 of the 
Unitary Development Plan seeks to encourage the effective use of land by re-using land that 
has been previously developed (Brownfield land), provided that it is not of high environmental 
value. It could also be argued that the introduction of new dwelling, given the proximity to 
housing, would be more compatible in respect of thrie environmental impacts n the 
surrounding area.  

 
Highway safety / Access 

 
6.10 One of the key concerns raised by local residents relates to the impact in traffic movements on 

Poplar Road that is considered to be a fast lane, that is used as a ‘rat run’. The only matter 
that is considered by this application relates to the creation of the access. The access drive 
has been relocated into a more central position to the west of the existing driveway. The 
outcome of this is improved visibility and a better position in relation to the mature trees to the 
east.   

 
6.11 There is no objection in principle to the additional traffic movements on this highway, as there 

is sufficient capacity for the additional 5 units to be accommodated without detriment to 
highway safety and users. The cutting back of foliage and more formal kerbing is likely to 
improve visibility and access for nearby dwellings. As such, subject to a plan providing details 
of visibility splays and access specification, being approved the proposal would comply with 
the requirements of policy DR3 of the UDP.  

 
Impact upon the character of the locality and amenities of local residents 

 
6.12 The application submission is in outline only, with an indicative plan detailing five dwellings. 

Layout, appearance and landscaping are reserved matters. The site is on the edge of the 
settlement, but its southern boundary consists of a mature landscape boundary, that forms a 
natural boundary to the settlement. Whilst landscaping is reserved matter, it is expected that 

6



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

this be retained as part of the landscaping scheme for the site. The enclosed nature of this 
site, plus the fact that this is closely related to other buildings and has previously been 
developed ensures that the sites physical relationship to the village is acceptable and that its 
development would not be harmful to the character of the area or to the setting of the village.  

 
6.13 One of the key concerns raised by neighbours relates to the inclusion of the larger detached 

dwelling that is shown to be sited closest to the dwellings that front Poplar Road. Whilst this 
application does not prescribe siting, layout or appearance and the indicative plans  do show 
that the distance between dwellings would be 28.9m and 32.2m which is considered 
reasonable in  this context. The design of the dwellings would have to be carefully considered 
in terms of size, scale, massing and overlooking to ensure that the amenities enjoyed by these 
residents was not compromised. This would be considered as part of the reserved matters 
application. Likewise, any boundary treatment would also need to be considered. Both the 
UDP and NPPF policies require good design and neighbourly development.  

 
6.14 Local residents also raise concern in respect of noise and disturbance from the use of the site 

for residential purposes and during construction. Conditions are recommended in respect of 
hours of working during construction. It should also be noted that the last known use of the site 
was as a poultry and pig farm, uses that probably caused conflict with the neighbouring 
residential uses in the past. The development is relatively low density, with private amenity 
spaces and parking areas a that are some way from the neighbouring properties. Appropriate 
landscaping and boundary treatments would be required and this will be incorporates at the 
reserved matters stage.  

 
6.15 Local residents also raise concern about intensification of use of the access, and potential 

nuisance to neighbour who live opposite / adjacent to the access. Again, this is a relatively 
small scale development, and the intensification of traffic movements are unlikely to cause 
such significant disturbance or impact on amenities so to cause unacceptable harm to amenity 
that would prejudice amenity. The use of this site for residential purposes is considered 
acceptable having regard to policy DR2 of the Unitary Development Plan.  

 
Biodiversity and trees  

 
6.16 Local residents also raised concerns about the use of the site by bats. The required surveys 

have been undertaken and the Councils Ecologist has considered this and raises no objection 
subject to imposition of conditions as suggested. As such the proposal would comply with 
policies  NC1, NC6 and NC7 of the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan and the guidance 
contained within the NPPF.  

 
6.17 The access to the site has been located in a position to the west of the site to improve access. 

This also allows the access to be moved away from the mature trees. As part of the reserved 
matters application, details of how the root protection areas can be provided (utilising land 
levels) would be required. This will be particularly important during the construction phases, as 
will the protection of all trees and hedges to be retained. As such a condition is recommended.  

 
Drainage 

 
6.18 Local residents raise concern about sewerage capacity on the area. Welsh Water has been 

consulted and raise no objection. Welsh water recommends conditions to ensure that surface 
water is not discharged to the mains in order to protect the integrity of the system. A condition 
requiring details of surface water drainage, including any works to the drainage ditch, is 
recommended.  

 
Demolition of buildings 

 

7



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

6.19 Concern has also been raised about the demolition of the buildings and removal of waste from 
the site and in particular asbestos. This is a matter dealt with and controlled by the Health and 
Safety Executive but a condition is recommended in relation to waste management on the site. 

 
 Section 106 agreement 
 
6.20 The development would be subject to a planning obligation as per the Council’s 

Supplementary Planning Document on Planning Obligations. However, in response to the 
current economic climate, the Council introduced a temporary suspension of the payment of 
planning obligations provided that the development is commenced within 12 months. This 
decision was ratified by Cabinet on 4 March 2009.  The Council also received a recent appeal 
decision in which the inspector considered a revised timescale (effectively 2 years to 
commence) for the submission of reserved matters following an outline permission. This is a 
material consideration and the recommended conditions applied would address this.  

 
6.21 The proposal fails to comply, in principle, with policy H7 of the UDP, however weight must be 

given to the National Planning Policy Framework that clearly identifies that where sites are 
considered to be sustainably located, and where they comply with other relevant policies, 
there should be a presumption in favour of sustainable development. The sites development 
accords with policies in relation to character of the area, highway safety, relationship with  
neighbouring properties, landscape impact and drainage, namely polices DRI, DR2, DR3, LA2 
H13 and H14 of the UDP. In conclusion, whilst the application would be contrary to Saved 
Policies of the UDP, the absence of a 5-year supply of housing land means that there are 
grounds to support this application and it is recommended for approval subject to conditions.   

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That outline planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. A02 Time limit for submission of reserved matters (1 year permission)  

2. A03 Time limit for commencement (2 years - outline permission) 

3. A04 Approval of reserved matters 

4. A05 Plans and particulars of reserved matters 

5. B01 Development in accordance with the approved plans 

6. C01 Samples of external materials 

7. G11 Landscaping scheme - implementation 

8. G04 Protection of trees/hedgerows that are to be retained 

9. H18 On site roads - submission of details 

10. H27 Parking for site operatives 

11. I51 Details of slab levels 

12. I55 Site Waste Management 

13. I16 Restriction of hours during construction 

14. H21 Wheel washing 

15. I20 Scheme of surface water drainage 

16. L01 Foul/surface water drainage 

17. L02 No surface water to connect to public system 

18. L03 No drainage run-off to public system 

8



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

19. The recommendations set out in the ecologist’s reports dated July and August 2012 
should be followed in relation to the identified protected species [bats, great 
crested newts etc], unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. Prior to commencement of the development, a full working method 
statement based on up-to-date survey information should be submitted to and be 
approved in writing by the local planning authority, and the work shall be 
implemented as approved. 

Prior to commencement of the development, a full habitat enhancement scheme 
should be submitted to and be approved in writing by the local planning authority, 
and the work shall be implemented as approved. This shall include provision for 
bats, nesting birds and planting of native species. 

An appropriately qualified and experienced ecological clerk of works should be 
appointed (or consultant engaged in that capacity) to oversee the ecological 
mitigation work. 

Reasons: 

To ensure that all species are protected having regard to the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 and Policies NC1, NC6 and NC7 of the Herefordshire Unitary 
Development Plan. 

To comply with Policies NC8 and NC9 of Herefordshire’s Unitary Development Plan 
in relation to Nature Conservation and Biodiversity and to meet the requirements of 
the NPPF and the NERC Act 2006 

 
Reason for Approval 
 
1. Non Standard 

 
The proposal fails to comply, in principle, with policy H7 of the UDP, however 
weight must be given to the National Planning Policy Framework that clearly 
identifies that where sites are considered to be sustainably located, and where they 
comply with other relevant policies, there should be a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The sites development accords with policies in relation to 
character of the area, highway safety, relationship with  neighbouring properties, 
landscape impact and drainage, namely polices DRI, DR2, DR3, LA2 H13 and H14 of 
the UDP. In conclusion, whilst the application would be contrary to Saved Policies 
of the UDP, the absence of a 5-year supply of housing land means that there are 
grounds to support this application and it is recommended for approval subject to 
conditions 

 
Informative 
 
1. N11C - General 
 
 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
Internal departmental consultation replies. 

9



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

 
 

 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 
  
APPLICATION NO:  S/121299/O   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  LAND AJOINING LANDIMORE, 12 POPLAR ROAD, CLEHONGER, HEREFORD, HR2 
9SW 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

10



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

MEETING: PLANNING COMMITTEE 

DATE: 7 NOVEMBER 2012 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

S121401/F- PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OF DETACHED 
DORMER BUNGALOW AT SALOU, BELLE BANK AVENUE, 
HEREFORD, HR4 9RL 
 
For: Mr & Mrs Mifflin per Mr Roy Pipe, 35 Browning Road, 
Ledbury, Herefordshire, HR8 2GA 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/planning/58286.aspx?ID=121401&NoSearch=Tr
ue 
 

 
Date Received: 10 May 2012 Ward: Burghill, Holmer and Lyde Grid Ref: 350586,242253 
Expiry Date: 25 July 2012  
Local Members: Councillor SJ Robertson 
 
1. Site Description and Proposal 
 
1.1 The application site comprises part of a residential garden belonging to a detached bungalow, 

sited to the east of a residential cul-de-sac that is part of Belle Bank Avenue. The site lies 
within the urban settlement boundary of Hereford and within the parish of Holmer.  
 

1.2 The proposal is for the construction of one detached bungalow. This would be sited to the east 
of the existing dwelling between it and the A49. The proposed bungalow would be sited 4m 
further forward than the existing dwelling and would have a linear form, with a footprint of 7m 
by 12m. The eaves height would be 2.5m, and ridge height of 5.5m. The proposal includes a 
dormer window in a central position in the east elevation overlooking the A49, and two 
rooflight windows in the west elevation overlooking the existing dwelling. Windows would also 
be inserted in each of the gable ends. The window to the south elevation would be obscure 
glazed and top hung. The plans that are being considered are in an amended form to address 
concerns raised about the original submission.  
 

1.3 The ground floor would comprise a bedroom, lounge, kitchen diner and bathroom, with hallway 
and stairs to two further bedrooms and a shower room.  
 

1.4 Access to the site would be shared. The existing gates posts would be removed, widening the 
access width to the width of the carriageway (4.2m). Externally the existing garage would be 
removed and garden subdivided. Parking would be provided for the existing bungalow, with a 
minimum of three spaces and a turning area being provided. Likewise parking and turning 
would also be provided for three vehicles. The existing hedge along the boundaries of the site 
to the east and north would be retained, and there is a new close board fence in situ (replacing 
a leylandii hedge) to the south. A bike storage shed is also proposed to the north east corner 
of the site.  

 
2. Policies  
 
2.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
 

AGENDA ITEM 5

11



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

The following sections are of particular relevance:  
 

- Introduction - Achieving sustainable development  
- Section 6 - Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes  
- Section 7 - Requiring Good Design  

 
2.2 Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.3 The Unitary Development Plan policies together with any relevant supplementary planning 

documentation can be viewed on the Councils website by using the following link:- 
 
 http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/planning/29815.aspp 
 
3. Planning History 
 
3.1 None  
 
4. Consultation Summary 
 

Statutory Consultees 
 

4.1 Welsh Water recommend conditions. 
 
 Internal Consultation Responses 
 
4.2 The Traffic Manager confirms that the revised parking and turning areas for Salou and the new 

property are acceptable.  
 
5. Representations 
 
5.1 Holmer and Shelwick Parish Councils objects to the above proposal for the following reasons: 
 a) the access road, parking and turning area are insufficient for additional traffic 
 b) dormer style overbearing the existing dwelling 
 c) bedroom window on the proposed new dwelling will directly overlook an existing property 

d) there is a danger of setting a precedent for other properties to apply for developing gardens 
in a residential cul-de-sac 

 
 In response to the revised plans Holmer and Shelwick Parish Councils make the following 
comments:  
 
 Would like to maintain their objection to the proposal. The access road remains an issue and 
although they are proposing altering the parking turning area, they will be unable to widen the 
access much more due to the surrounding properties and footpaths. The PC feel that any 
development will have a detrimental effect on the unique character of Belle Bank Avenue and 
will set the precedent of other to follow suit and build in gardens.  

 
5.2 Letters of objection have been received from:  
 

S1 - Sustainable Development  
S3 - Housing 
DR1 - Design 
DR2 - Land Use and Activity 
DR3 - Movement  
H1 - Hereford and Market towns: settlements boundaries and established 

residential areas 
H13  Sustainable residential design 

12



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

 Simon Bythell, Highcroft, Belle Bank Avenue 
 Michael Hayward (on behalf of occupier)  Tehidy, Belle Bank Avenue 
 Betty Hayward, Tehidy, Belle Bank Avenue 
 Gordon Neale, Pantiles, Belle Bank Avenue 
 Sue Hall-Neale, Pantiles, Belle Bank Avenue 
 Ceri Lloyd, 3 Belle Bank Avenue 
 Ian Pontin 9 Belle Bank Avenue 

Mrs S Powell, 36 Wordsworth Road, Whitecross 
William Hall, Stockingfield, Dilwyn 
 
These letters can be summarised as follows:  
 
- Approval would set a precedent for other development within gardens 
- Would alter and be detrimental to the character of the area 
- Refer to appeal decision at Levante / Belle Bank Avenue 
- Loss of privacy / overlooking to Pantiles from Gable end window 
- Intrusive and overbearing on the existing bungalow 
- The existing house could be extended without harm to the area 
- Concern / objection over additional traffic movements and potential for indiscriminate 

parking on Belle Bank Avenue 
- Already difficulty with traffic on Belle Bank Avenue due to the shop 
- Difficulty in making access wide enough 
- The proposal is garden grabbing 

  
5.3 The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following 

link:- 
 www.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/planning/searchplanningapplications.aspx 
 

Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:- 
 www.herefordshire.gov.uk/community_and_living/consumer_advice/41840.asp 
 
6. Officer’s Appraisal 
 
6.1 Policy H1 of the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan allows for residentiall development 

within primarily residential areas where compatible with housing design and other policies of 
the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan.  

 
6.2 The application falls to be considered having regard to three main issues; firstly the design of 

proposed dwelling and the impact of the proposal on the character of the area; secondly the 
impact upon highway safety; and thirdly the impact upon the amenities and living conditions of 
local residents.  

 
6.3 The application site comprises a detached bungalow, set in a quite substantial garden. The 

site boundary to the east is a substantial and mature hedgerow with the A49 to the east. The 
dwelling is one of a number of similar bungalows set around a cul-de-sac, albeit these are not 
set within such spacious gardens as much of the remainder of Belle Bank Avenue. The cul-de-
sac element of Belle Bank Avenue has a different character. The dwelling to the south 
(Pantiles) being a two storey dwelling, with dormer windows.  

 
6.4 The subdivision of this plot, and introduction of a new dwelling in this location has been 

carefully considered, especially having regard to the dismissed appeal for a new dwelling 
nearby. This application must be considered on its own merits, having particalur regard to the 
character of this area, and the site characteristics. Whilst it is acknoweldged that Belle Bank 
Avenue does have a specail character, the introduction of a dwelling, that would be of a similar 
scale, size and design to the bungalows in the area, would not result in a form of development 
that would appear cramped or uncharacteristic. This cul-de-sac element of Belle Bank 

13



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

Avenue, has different characteristics, with dwellings being closer together, plot sizes and 
gardens being smaller, and distances between dwellings being less formal and rythmic. There 
is sufficent space within the site to provide amenity space and parking / turning to both 
dwellings without being cramped or out of characeter with other dwellings in this locality. Local 
residents raise concern about distance between the existing and proposed dwellings. This 
would be 3.8m, which is similar to the distances between Tehidy and High Croft (2.5m) to the 
west and Edale and Pantiles (2m)  to the south.  

 
6.5 The proposed bungalow, does introduce a dormer window to the east elevation that would 

front the A49. This has been designed as a flat roofed dormer, similar to to that in Pantiles. 
The height of the proposed dwelling is 500mm taller than the existing bungalow. To 
accommodate this change in height, the dwelling would be set at a level 300mm lower than 
Salou, utilising the existing change in levels within the garden. Whilst this will be perceptible, 
the character of the dwellings is not so rigid that this would be uncharaceteristic or detrimental 
to the area.  As roofing materials will be important, the details / samples of materials would be 
required by condition. Having regard to the design and siting of the proposed dwelling, the 
development would comply with the design requirements of policies DR1 and H13 of the 
Unitary Development Plan and would represent a form of development that not be detrimental 
to the character of the area in accordance with these policies.  

 
 Highway safety 
 
6.6 One of the key issues raised in letters of representations is the potential impact on highway 

safety. These letters outline issues that exist in relation to indiscriminate parking. This 
application has been amended to demonstrate that parking for at least three vehicles can be 
provided, off road, and within the curtilage of the dwellings. The additional traffic generated by 
this one three bed dwelling, can be accomomdated on this residential highway network without 
detriment to highway safety. An inspector reiterated this point in the appeal decision at 
‘Levante’ stating ‘ I am less concerned about safety because I do not think a compelling 
argument has been mounted that the potential increase in traffic from one additional house 
would materially increase the likelihood of accidents’ . The highways officer raises no objection 
to the proposed development, and subject to a condition in respect of the provision of the 
parking areas detailed the proposal would comply with the requirements of policy DR3 of the 
Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan.  

 
 Impact on amenities and living conditions of local residents 
 
6.7 Local residents raise concern about the impact of the proposed development on their living 

conditions. The plans have been amended to detail the first floor gable windows as being 
obscure glazed and top hung. This window would be approximately 4m (to centre) above 
ground level, and 15m from the boundary, that is a 2m close board fence. Its inclusion in the 
scheme would not adversley impact upon the living conditions enjoyed by the occupants of 
Pantiles. A condition requiring this window to be obscure glazed in recommended. The dormer 
window would serve a bathroom, and likewise would be obscure glazed. 

 
6.8 Concerns are also raised about the relationship bewteen the exsiting and proposed 

bungalows. The distance between these would be 3.5m, with the proposed bungalow being 
staggered in its position to ensure a satisfactory relationship. Principle windows are south 
facing. To ensure that these relationship are protected in the future, permitted development 
rights are proposed to be removed by condition. As such the proposed development would not 
adversly impact upon the amenities and living conditions of local residents in accordance with 
the requirements of policies H13 and DR2 of the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan.  

 
 Section 106 agreement 
 

14



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

6.9 The development would have been subject to a planning obligation as per the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Document on Planning Obligations. However, in response to the 
current economic climate, the Council has introduced a temporary suspension of the payment 
of planning obligations provided that the development is commenced within 12 months. This 
decision was ratified by Cabinet on 4 March 2009. The applicant has requested a 12 months 
commencement date to be attached to any approval notice as part of the planning application 

 
6.10 As such the proposed development is by virtue of its siting, scale and design would represent 

a form of development that would respect the character of the locality and the amenities 
enjoyed by local residents, and that, with the suggested conditions would ensure that this 
accords with the requirements of policies H1, DR1, DR2 and H13 of the Herefordshire Unitary 
Development Plan. The proposal for one dwelling, and inclusion of parking and turning for 
both the existing and proposed dwellings, would also comply with the requirements of policy 
DR3 of the UDP in respect of highway safety. As such, the proposed development is 
recommended for approval subject to the appropriate conditions.  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. A01 Time limit for commencement (full permission) 1 YEAR 

2. B01 Development in accordance with the approved plans 

3. C01 Samples of external materials 

4. F14 Removal of permitted development rights 

5. F17 Obscure glazing to windows 

6. G11 Landscaping scheme - implementation 

7. L01 Foul/surface water drainage 

8. L02 No surface water to connect to public system 

9. L03 No drainage run-off to public system 

10. H13 Access, turning area and parking 

 
Reason for Approval  
 
1. The proposed development, by virtue of its siting, scale and design, would 

represent a form of development that would respect the character of the locality and 
the amenities enjoyed by local residents, and that, with the appropriate conditions 
would ensure that this accords with the requirements of policies H1, DR1, DR2 and 
H13 of the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan. The proposal for one dwelling, 
and inclusion of parking and turning for both the existing and proposed dwellings, 
would also comply with the requirements of policy DR3 of the UDP in respect of 
highway safety.  

 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
Internal departmental consultation replies. 

15



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Kelly Gibbons on 01432 261781 
PF2 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 
  
APPLICATION NO:  S/121401/F   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  SALOU, BELLE BANK AVENUE, HEREFORD, HR4 9RL 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

16


	Agenda
	
	4 S121299/O - LAND ADJOINING LANDIMORE, 12 POPLAR ROAD, CLEHONGER, HEREFORD, HR2 9SW
	5 S121401/F - SALOU, BELLE BANK AVENUE, HEREFORD, HR4 9RL

